# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-22-2014

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT I** 

Appeal No. 2014AP001769 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LANCE DONELLE BUTLER, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLES DENNIS R. CIMPL (JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION) AND GLENN H. YAMAHIRO (POSTCONVICTION MOTION), PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

George M. Tauscheck Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1015744 4230 N. Oakland Ave. #103 Milwaukee, WI 53211 (414) 704-9451

# **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the police witnesses offer impermissible expert or lay opinion testimony on the mapping of cell tower areas of coverage and the location of cell calls within the areas they had mapped? In denying the postconviction motion that asserted a *Daubert* violation, the trial court ruled that the officers' testimony was permissible lay opinion.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted as there does not appear to be any published Wisconsin decisions addressing the application of Wis. Stat. §§ 907.01 and 02 to this question. Oral argument is not requested as defendant-appellant believes the issue can be adequately addressed by briefing.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In a complaint filed on May 21, 2011, Lance D. Butler, Jr., was accused of one count of arson of a building and two counts of first-degree reckless endangering safety, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.02(1)(a) and 941.30(1), respectively (2:1; App. 101). The complaint alleged that Butler set a fire in the apartment where Marilyn Long lived on February 21, 2011. Long was not home at the time because she had been forced to leave after Butler allegedly broke her windows with a fire extinguisher from the building's hallway (2:2; App. 102).

After the fire extinguisher incident the night before, Long's apt was boarded up. The next morning a resident reported a fire, and the fire department responded. Long showed her phone records with calls and texts from Butler and from the children of Butler's uncle's girlfriend during the morning of February 21. Some of these calls referred to a fire at Long's home. The probable location of Butler's phone was

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Butler also was charged for criminal damage to property, arising from the fire-extinguisher incident, in Milwaukee County Case No. 11-CF-958.

traced using the signals received by cell phone towers along a bus route that led from Butler's father's house to Long's apartment (2:2-3; App. 102-03).

The jury trial started on March 26, 2012, and the Case No. 11-CF-958 was joined. The State disclosed its theory of prosecution in its opening statement. Long had broken up with Butler a month before the incident at issue here, the State told the jury, but Butler was persistent – he showed up at Long's apartment when she was with another man (81:48). The State told the jury that Butler then took a fire extinguisher from the apartment's hallway and broke the window of Long's apartment (81:49).

As for the case at issue here – the arson and two counts of reckless endangerment – the State told the jury it would bring forth evidence about cell phone technology and cell phone towers and how Butler, who made hundreds of calls and texts to Long, was tracked through his cell phone as he moved across town toward Long's apartment (81:52). A call from Butler's cell phone used a tower near Long's apartment, and then she received texts from this same number telling her that her house was on fire (81:55).

As proof of reckless endangerment, the State produced testimony from Ciara Dorsey and Jordan Ponder. Dorsey, a resident of the apartment building, had to be treated for smoke inhalation as a result of the fire (81:66). Ponder, a Milwaukee firefighter, suffered burns when he responded to the fire (81:82-83).

Detective Elizabeth Wallich, from the arson unit, testified that the fire started in Long's apartment on the couch and in a bedroom closet (81:105). The fire was intentional, in Wallich's opinion, because there were two points of origin (80:52-53), and there were no signs of an accidental cause such as smoking or an electrical failure (80:30-31).

The issue raised in this appeal – and argued below in hearings on the postconviction motion – was whether the State's witnesses should have qualified as experts for the purpose of using cell phone technology to track Butler across town and place him at the location of the fire. Ryan Harger, from Sprint Nextel, described how cell towers work: a call from a cell phone goes to the tower with the strongest signal and the cell company keeps records of the towers that receive cell calls (80:67-71). These records do not show whether the call bounced off the nearest tower or the strongest tower; they only show which tower carried the call (80:77).

Daniel Markus, a customer service analyst and records custodian for Verizon, testified next (80:79). In response to subpoena, he provided detailed call records for the relevant phone numbers and information about cell tower locations and transmissions from 3 p.m. on February 20 to 11 a.m. on February 21, 2011. These were business records, ordinarily and regularly maintained. He also generally discussed tower directions, radius, and coordinates (80:89).

Detective Elizabeth Wallich returned as a witness, telling the jury that the cell phone in question was associated with Butler. The detective got the phone number from Long, who said it belonged to Butler. She also checked Long's phone and saw the name "Lance" associated with the number. Butler made hundreds of calls and texts to Long's phone during the relevant time period, and some of the calls came from two children whose mother was living with Butler's uncle, Shawn (80:136-37). Butler also made calls to the number for the Milwaukee Transit System that one calls to find out bus schedules (80:133).

Wallich further testified that officers from the Milwaukee Police Department's Fusion unit told her that these calls/texts bounced off Cell Tower 317, near Long's residence at 7:28 a.m. One call registered off the Tower 317

by Long's apartment at 7:25 a.m., and the call to the fire department came in at 7:25 a.m. (156) Text messages from Ashanti and Alante D.'s telephone said, "I smell fire why you got \*\*\*\*, LOL," "Better go put that fire out," "why you getting \*\*\*\* your house is one fire," and "Ha, ha, ha, ha ... your house is on fire" (82:64).

Officers Bran Brosseau and Eric Draeger, both from the Milwaukee Police Department's Fusion Center, testified Officer Brosseau mapped and analyzed cellphone next. records, matching them to towers and using GPS coordinates to figure out where the towers are located (82:82). He described how cell towers broken down into 120 degree sectors and this information comes from the cell phone companies (82:84). Tower 317, section 3, is located on the northwest side of Milwaukee and included, in its coverage area, 9239 N. 75<sup>th</sup> Street, the address of the apartment building where the fire occurred (82:88). A call went to this section of Tower 317 at 7:28 a.m. on February 21, 2011 (82:88). However, not every call from around that address would go to the relevant sector of Tower 317 – not if, for example, the tower was too busy. In that case, the call could go to the next strongest signal (82:89). Besides cell traffic, physical obstructions also could cause a cell call to not go to the nearest tower (82:90). Officer Brosseau maintained that, because were many calls from the same cell phone and they all went to the same tower, it was more probable than not that the caller was in the same sector the entire time (82:91).

The prosecution theory was that Butler took a bus from downtown Milwaukee up to Long's apartment on the northwest side. Cell calls went off towers located downtown, including a call to the number for bus schedules (82:102). From 5:40 a.m. to 7:28 a.m., these calls bounced off towers following the bus from downtown around Juneau Avenue up to the area of Long's apartment (82:103), then afterward the

calls bounced off towers in a southerly direction along the route (82:104). Upon cross-examination, Officer Brosseau admitted that there was no telling how far the cell phone making the calls was from the tower that received the calls from the phone (82:107).

Officer Draeger testified about his familiarity with mapping cell phone towers, and how, if someone is traveling from downtown up to the northside around Brownn Deer Road and back again, that person is traveling from tower to tower (83:9). He explained where he would look for the physical location of the cell phone based on the tower and sector that received a call from the phone (83:8-13). Draeger spoke in certain terms: based on his training and experience, a string of calls going to Tower 317, sector 3, means the cell phone is "absolutely" in that sector (83:10).

Marilyn Long, the victim of the arson, testified that she had been in a relationship with Butler, broke up with him, and started seeing someone else (83:22-24). Butler was unhappy, she said, and he kept calling her (83:24). On February 20, 2011, the night before the fire, Long was in her apartment with another man when she claimed that an angry Butler showed up and bust out her ground floor window with a fire extinguisher (83:28-29). The window was boarded up, and Long spent the night elsewhere (83:40).

Long further testified that, after the fire-extinguisher incident, Butler kept calling and texting, and that she also received texts on the morning of the fire from "Ms Hot Pancake and Big Money, both unknown to her (83:42). She did not recognize the numbers or the names of these texts, but she knew they were from Butler by their tone (*Id.*). Texts received from Butler's phone also started coming through, with messages such as "And I smell fire while you got \*\*\*\*" ... "Thanks for my movies and da drank, ha-ha. You better go put that fire out" ... "I told you I'm just getting started, ho.

Why I'm guessing you getting \*\*\*\*, your house is on fire, ho, haha" (83:45-46). Long thought these texts were motivated by Butler's jealousy about her watching his movies with the new boyfriend (83:47-48).

As for the texts from Big Money and Pancake, Melveretta Bradford explained that these names were her children's cell phone signatures (83:76). Bradford knew Butler through his uncle, who lived with her, and Butler sometimes spent the night (83:74-75). Butler was in her house, using her children's cell phones on the day in question (83:77).

The parties delivered closing arguments on March 29, 2012, and the verdict forms were submitted to the jury that same day (85:54-56). The jury reached verdicts the next day, finding Butler guilty of arson and both counts of first-degree recklessly endangering safety. The jury was hung on the criminal damage to property count in 11-CF-958, and Butler has never been retried.

Sentencing occurred on June 19, 2012, with the court imposing an aggregate sentence of 24 years of initial incarceration and 10 years of extended supervision (87:47).

Butler brought a postconviction motion claiming that his conviction for arson and two other counts was based on unreliable opinion testimony from nonexpert witnesses (48:1-8; App. 107-13). His specific claim is that neither of the state's two witnesses (Officers Brian Brosseau and Eric Draeger), who testified about the use of cell phone tracking technology to track Butler's supposed movements to and from the scene of the arson, qualified as experts in the use of cell phone tracking technology, and, in any case, they did not

demonstrate that their testimony was the product of reliable principles and methods.<sup>2</sup>

Butler mounted a two-prong challenge: the officers did not qualify as experts and their testimony was unreliable. Both officers testified at a hearing on April 11, 2014, which was characterized as a *nunc pro tunc Daubert* hearing. Because trial counsel failed to object to the officers' trial testimony, this April 11 hearing sought to determine whether the officers would qualify under *Daubert*. If so, then Butler was not prejudiced by trial counsel's omission. However, if they did not meet the *Daubert* standard, then Butler was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance for not seeking to disqualify the officers as witnesses. Then, a hearing under *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979), must be held to determine whether trial counsel's performance was deficient, that is, can counsel offer a strategic reason for failing to object to the officers' testimony.

Butler suffered prejudice, he claimed in the motion, for the evidence connecting him to this crime came from the officers' testimony about cell phone tracking and Butler's location. It was the only evidence placing Butler around the location of the fire, and he now contends that these officers should not have been allowed to testify in the first place.

At this *nunc pro tunc Daubert* hearing, held on April 11, 2014, both officers Brosseau and Draeger testified.<sup>3</sup> Officer Brosseau testified that he created the map (Trial Exhibit 10) of part of Milwaukee on which he plotted the

<sup>2</sup> The postconviction motion also challenged the imposition of the DNA surcharge. The trial court vacated this surcharge, as reflected in the amended

judgment of conviction (62:1-3; App. 126-28).

Officer Brosseau described his training and experience as 12 days of government communications training and multi-day training sessions sponsored by the Department of Justice and the North American Technological Investigator's Association. He also had several years of experience with the Fusion unit (89:9-10). Officer Draeger also described many multiple-day seminars (89:24-25).

location of cell towers and drew pie slices showing the areas of service for particular cell towers (89:7). He created this map from tower locations GPS coordinates, and street addresses based on information supplied by Verizon (89:8). Officer Brosseau agreed that when he put information from the cell phone company on the map, he was not "changing anything ... analyzing anything" (89:11).

Every phone tower covered 360 degrees, broken up into three sectors represented by the pie slices on the map (*Id.*). Each sector had an antenna pointing in a different direction, defined in degrees, for a total of three antennae per tower (89:16). Each sector also had an equal range in terms of width, but Officer Brosseau did not know the strength of the towers or their signals because he is not an "engineer" (89:18).

Tower 317 provided cell phone service to the area where the arson occurred (89:8). Officer Brosseau explained that the location of Tower 317 on the map was the visual depiction of the data from the cell phone company (89:14). Although Officer Brosseau could not say the exact location of a cell phone within the sector assigned to Tower 317, he was sure that call would have originated in that sector (89:15-16).

Even though Officer Brosseau admitted that signal strength determines the cell tower to which a cell phone connects (a call goes to the tower with the strongest signal), he also said that much depends on line of sight and, for any given phone call, the tower with the strongest signal may not be the closest tower (89:18). He estimated that a cell tower's range of service was about one-and-a-half miles out (89:21).

The officer was unaware of any study of reliability or error rate for cell phone tracking based his method of placing calls in the sectors or pie slices representing the range of coverage of a tower's particular sector (*Id.*). He admitted that

obstructions, such as weather, tall buildings, and trees, as well as tower maintenance, the volume of cell phone traffic, and whether the phone is being used indoors or outdoors can influence whether a cell call goes to the nearest tower (89:19). None of these factors, however, were accounted for in the records supplied by the cell phone company (89:20).

In response to the same question about reliability and error rates, Officer Draeger responded that "we catch people every day on their phones using this exact same technology" (89:24). He based his opinion on both his personal experience and that of his unit, but he had no idea if it had ever been tested outside the law enforcement community (89:29-30).

When asked about the meaning of "granulization theory," Officer Draeger defined it as "something that allowed the agent to determine coverage overlap of two towers ... It's the theory by which how we make those shaded areas, how we plot that on the map" (89:27). During the trial, he was never asked to distinguish whether the phone was in an area of overlapping coverage (89:28).

In deciding against Butler, the trial court found that the officers' testimony was not expert testimony; it was lay opinion testimony under Wis. Stat. § 907.01 (91:7; App. 120). None of the mapping of the cell phone tower locations involved expert testimony. Both officers were qualified to map the cell towers that received the calls in question, and the officers readily admitted that they could not "tell with certainty where the cell phones in question were at the time the calls were received by the cell towers" (91:8; App. 121). The officers did not offer expert testimony, the trial court found, and they merely translated the data received from the cell phone companies. They were "expert" enough for this limited purpose (*Id.*).

Previously, the trial court asked the parties to file supplemental briefs on the potential applicability of *U.S. v. Antonio Evans*, 10 CR 747-3 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (90:2-3). In *Evans*, federal district court disallowed nonexpert testimony on the use of granulization theory to identify a cell phone's location. But, after briefing, the trial court concluded the testimony was not the same as that excluded in *Evans* because here, unlike in *Evans*, "the detectives made only general statements about cell phone location [and] never gave an opinion about the location of the defendant at the time the cell phone calls were made [and] acknowledged they could not say where the cell phone was" (91:9; App. 122).

For these reasons, the trial court found that Butler was not prejudiced, for "the detectives acknowledged they could not pinpoint any location where phone calls were made ..." (91:10; App. 123). Any *Daubert* challenge raised at trial would have been denied, and the trial court therefore found no basis for a *Machner* hearing on the ineffectiveness of counsel to lodge an objection (*Id.*).

#### **ARGUMENT**

OFFICERS BROSSEAU AND DRAEGER DID NOT QUALIFY AS EXPERTS UNDER DAUBERT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CELL PHONE TRACKING, NOR DID THEIR TESTIMONY QUALIFY AS LAY OPINION.

A. The Officers' Expertise Fell Short of the Requirements of *Daubert* and Wis. Stat. § 907.02.

In *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993), the U.S. Supreme Court laid out non-exhaustive general criteria for assessing the reliability and validity of an

expert's testimony, including whether the methodology can be or has been tested, whether it has ever subjected to peer review and publication, the methodology's known or potential error rate, and whether the methodology has attracted widespread acceptance within the relevant scientific community. Wisconsin adopted Daubert on February 1, 2011, as a result of 2011 Wis Act 2. Reflecting the *Daubert* standard, Wis. Stat. § 907.02 provides: "...a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case." Butler contends that the state never established the expertise of Officers Brosseau and Draeger, or the reliability of their methods.

The court has a gatekeeper role in determining the admissibility of evidence. Three inquiries guide whether proposed expert testimony meet the requirements of *Daubert* and the corresponding Wisconsin statute. First, was this historical cell phone site data the type of scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge that required an expert witness? At least one court has found that translating cell records into the location of the phone requires "specialized knowledge in skills not in possession of the [jury]." *Wilder v. State*, 991 A.2d 172, 200 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2010). Similarly, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit held that it was error for the trial court to admit lay testimony from a police officer about how cell sites processed calls. *U.S. v. Yeley-Davis*, 632 F.3d 673, 685 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011).

Second, did the officers qualify as experts? The answer should be "no." An expert is someone with scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge, who offers

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