#### **RECEIVED**

12-18-2014

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A L $^{\hbox{\scriptsize QF}}$ WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1769-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LANCE DONELLE BUTLER, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLES DENNIS R. CIMPL AND GLENN H. YAMAHIRO PRESIDING, RESPECTIVELY

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

EILEEN W. PRAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009845

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### A. Introduction.

Butler claims that it constituted ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel failed to object to the testimony of Officers Brosseau and At trial, both Officers Brosseau and Draeger testified with respect to mapping and analyzing cell phone records provided by the cell phone companies (82:79). The cell phone company provided the number of the cell tower that received Butler's calls, the GPS coordinates for the tower, and the sectors or direction of the antenna. Officer Brosseau simply took this information and mapped the cell phone locations on an exhibit to be shown to the jury. (82:80, 83-85, 86, 87-88, 93, 104, 108-09; 89:9, 11, 12, 14, 27). prosecutor explained in the postconviction motion hearing:

> First of all, I don't think the officers really did anything other than take records that came in a data base as you saw on Exhibit 22 and geographically represent them on Exhibit 10. So in other words Tower 317 explained—this information is information that comes from the phone company. No one and no officer ever said based on Line 639 of Exhibit 22 Lance Butler was at the arson scene on this date at this time. That's not what they said at all, and as Mr. Hicks cleared with the officers they were never able to say who was in possession of this phone, things of that nature. What they said was we got these records. The Police Department obtained these records from Verizon and

these records put onto a map for someone to understand what they mean based on data bases we get from Verizon about tower locations, et cetera and GPS coordinates are here on this map. GPS coordinates are in numbers that no juror can understand; negative 48 latitude, positive 36 longitude, things like that.

. . . .

... [W]hen you look at the totality of the circumstances in conjunction with the State's argument these officers assisted the jury by explaining into English what are otherwise columns of data from a cell phone company.

(89:32-33, 35.)

Butler now claims that his trial counsel should have objected to the officers' testimony for three reasons. First, he claims that the officers were not appropriately testifying as lay witnesses pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 907.01, because their testimony was based on scientific and technical knowledge. Butler's brief at 12. Second, Butler claims that the officers did not have the appropriate qualifications for experts on cell phone locations. Butler's brief at 12-13. Finally, Butler claims that the officers' testimony was not the "product of reliable principles and methods." Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1); Butler's brief at 13. argues that his counsel should have objected to the officers' testimony, because it did not comport with the requirements of Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

Butler recognizes that he has forfeited his right to direct review of his claim that the court improperly allowed the officers to testify concerning cell tower locations and operations. His only recourse is a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on his counsel's failure to object to the testimony at trial. Butler's brief at 8.

The circuit court held a nunc pro tunc Daubert hearing to determine whether the trial court would have sustained counsel's objection to the officers' testimony, if the objection had been proffered at trial. The court concluded that counsel's performance was not deficient and that Butler had not been prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object to the officers' testimony. court determined that counsel's objections would not have been successful. The officers properly testified as lay witnesses with respect to the plotting of cell phone towers on the exhibit map. Furthermore, the officers were qualified as experts to testify to the general operation of cell phone towers—that calls are picked up by the cell tower with the strongest signal, not necessarily the closest tower to the caller. Finally, officers did not testify to scientific matters outside their expertise or beyond reliable principles and methods in the field. Specifically, the trial court held:

The majority of the officers' testimony revolved around plotting data on exhibit maps for the purpose of tracing a history of cell phone usage to and from the defendant in this case on the date in question. I don't find any of the recitation of the data which was provided by the cell phone company nor the mapping of it to involve expert testimony. Notwithstanding that, both officers have received extensive training. . . .

... They did not attempt to offer the type of testimony that was offered in the *Evans* decision wherein Officer Raschke attempted to pinpoint within a limited area where the defendant's phone was at the time

of the offense and by implication thereby where the defendant was at the time of the offense. The officers in this case were very clear that they were not suggesting that, they were not offering that, and to the extent that any testimony could be construed as expert testimony, that which was offered in addition to the mere translation of data received from the cell companies, the Court finds that the – for that limited extent that the officers were experts based upon their testimony and their resumes—vitaes.

. . . .

officers The that testified qualified based upon their training and experience to testify about historical cell phone data and how cell phone networks operate. They did not attempt to apply the theory of granulization to this case, i.e., the using of cell phone mapping to determine where a cell phone user was at the time of any given call. That evidence was deemed unreliable in the Evans case. But in this case the detectives made only general statement about cell phone location. Never gave an opinion about the location of the defendant at the time the cell phone calls were made. Acknowledged they could not say where the cell phone was. So to the extent that the detectives touched on the granulization testimony generally, the defendant was not prejudiced because the detectives acknowledged they could not pinpoint any location where phone calls were made in this case.

(91:7-10.)

It is the State's position that the circuit court properly denied Butler's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. First, Butler has failed to prove that his trial counsel performed deficiently. Butler admits there are no published Wisconsin decisions addressing application of Wis. Stat. §§ 907.01 or 907.02 to the plotting of cell phone activity. Butler's brief at 2. At the time of trial, the application of Daubert principles to Wisconsin trials was very new. In January 2011, the Legislature adopted a change to Wis. Stat. § 907.02, inserting language tracking the 2000 Rule 702, Fed. R. Evid. 702. 2011 Wis. Act 2. The new statutory language of Wis. Stat. § 907.02 codified the Supreme Court decision in Daubert. But, the amendments to Wis. Stat. § 907.02 apply to "actions or special proceedings" filed on or after February 1, 2011. 2011 Wis. Act 2, § 45(5). Butler committed his offense on February 21, 2011, the same month the *Daubert* law became effective. The State filed is criminal complaint three months later on May 12, 2011 (2:1, 4).

Because there is no precedent in Wisconsin supporting Butler's position, it cannot constitute deficient performance for trial counsel to fail to raise the issue at trial. It does not constitute deficient performance to fail to assert a legal claim that is not supported by precedent. Counsel's performance is not constitutionally deficient for failure to predict changes or advances in the law. "The Sixth Amendment does not require counsel to forecast changes or advances in the law." Lilly v. Gilmore, 988 F.2d 783, 786 (7th Cir. 1993). Consistent with this principle, this court has held that a criminal defense attorney "is not required to object and argue a point of law that is unsettled." State v. McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). Accordingly, "ineffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." Id. at 85.

Moreover, the greater weight of the precedent from other jurisdictions does not support Butler's interpretation of the law. "The use of cell phone records to locate a phone has been widely accepted in both federal and state courts across the country." *United States v. Jones*, 918 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2013).

On the whole, the Court is persuaded that Agent Eicher's proposed testimony is based on reliable methodology. Indeed, the use of cell phone location records to determine the general location of a cell phone has been widely accepted by numerous federal courts. See, e.g., United States v. Schaffer, 439 Fed. Appx. 344, 347 (5th Cir. 2011) (concluding that the field of "historical cell site analysis" was "neither untested nor unestablished"); United States v. Dean, 2012 WL 6568229, at \*5 (N.D.Ill. December 14, 2012) (finding that expert testimony relating to cell site records was reliable and would assist the trier of fact to determine a fact at issue, and noting that "such testimony is generally accepted in the Seventh Circuit"): United States v. Fama, 2012 WL 6102700, at \*3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 10, 2012) (noting that "[n]umerous federal courts have found similar testimony reliable and admissible" (internal quotation marks omitted)). In light of Agent Eicher's extensive experience in this well-established field, the Court agrees with the government that his testimony is based on reliable methods and principles.

#### *Id.* at 5.

Second, Butler has failed to prove that he was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object to the officers' testimony. The circuit court determined that, if counsel had objected, there is no reasonable probability that the trial court would have sustained the objection. The officers'

testimony would have been admitted despite counsel's objections.

Additionally, Butler does not object to the testimony of the two cell phone company employees. Both those witnesses testified that cell phones connect with the tower emitting the strongest signal. That tower may also be the closest tower to the cell phone. But sometimes the signal from the closest tower is not the strongest signal, because it is obstructed by buildings or geography and sometimes a signal is weakened by cell phone traffic near a particular tower (80:75-76, 100-101). This testimony was identical in substance to the officers' limited testimony with respect to how cell phone towers operate (82:89-90; 83:5). Thus, if the officers' testimony had not been admitted, the jury would have heard the same information from the cell phone company employees.

## B. Legal principles concerning ineffective assistance of counsel.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must establish both that his trial counsel's performance was deficient in the sense that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that this performance prejudiced his defense. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

The standard for the performance prong of the test is whether trial counsel's assistance was reasonable under the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 636-37, 369 N.W.2d 711

(1985). A court must review trial counsel's performance with great deference, and the defendant must overcome the strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). As the supreme court has noted, "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

The standard for the prejudice prong of the test is whether the alleged deficient performance "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. The defendant cannot meet this burden by simply showing that an error had some conceivable effect on the outcome. *Id.* at 693. Instead, the defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694; *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis. 2d 74, 101, 457 N.W.2d 299 (1990).

In analyzing an ineffective assistance claim, the court may choose to address either the deficient performance component or the prejudice component first, and conclude that an inadequate showing with respect to that component dooms the claim. *State v. Williams*, 2000 WI App 123, ¶ 22, 237 Wis. 2d 591, 614 N.W.2d 11.

C. Butler failed to prove his trial counsel performed deficiently.

If trial counsel had objected to the officers' testimony, the court would have admitted the

testimony over counsel's objections. It does not constitute deficient performance to fail to raise issues that lack merit.

## 1. Background of the revised Wis. Stat. § 907.02.

In January 2011, the Legislature adopted a change in Wis. Stat. §§ 907.01 and 907.02. The Legislature's amendment of § 907.01 limits lay opinion. Lay opinions must be "rationally" based on the witness's perception and helpful to a clear understanding of the witness's testimony or to the determination of a factual issue, requirements which existed under prior law. Wis. Stat. § 907.01 (2009-10); Town of Fifield v. State Farm Mut. Ins.Co., 119 Wis. 2d 220, 233-34, 349 N.W.2d 684 (1984). Lay opinions cannot be based on "specialized knowledge." Wis. Stat. "specialized § 907.01(3). **Opinions** based on knowledge" must meet § 907.02's reliability requirements. See 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 701.1 at 94 (3d ed. Supp. May 2013).

The language inserted in § 907.02 tracks 2000 Rule 702, Federal Rules of Evidence (Federal Rule 702). 2011 Wis. Act 2. Prior to the amendment of Wis. Stat. § 907.02, the statute required that expert testimony assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue and that a witness be qualified as an expert. See In re Commitment of Watson, 227 Wis. 2d 167, 186-91, 595 N.W.2d 403 (1999). The amended language added that expert opinion must now also (1) be based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) be the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness must have applied

the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).

The new statutory language of Wis. Stat. § 907.02 codifies three United States Supreme Court cases: Daubertυ. MerrellDow*Pharmaceuticals* Inc.,509 U.S. 579 General Electric Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997), and Kumho Tire Co. Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137 (1999). The rule "establishes a standard of evidentiary reliability." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590. The trial judge must determine whether the testimony has "a reliable basis in the knowledge and experience of [the relevant] discipline." Id. at 592; Lauzon v. Senco Products, Inc., 270 F.3d 681, 686 (8th Cir. 2001). Federal Rule 702 codified the trilogy and case law in 2000.

Federal Rule 702 envisions a "flexible" inquiry by the trial judge, who is charged with "the task of ensuring that an expert's testimony both rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 594, The list of factors the Daubert Court mentioned was meant to be helpful, not definitive. Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 151. See also Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee note amendment) (Rule 702 committee note) ("No attempt has been made to 'codify' [the] factors. Daubert itself emphasized that the factors were neither exclusive nor dispositive."). The rejection of expert testimony is the exception rather than the rule. Federal Rule 702 committee note.

The expert's testimony must be grounded in an accepted body of learning or experience in the expert's field, and the expert must explain how the conclusion is so grounded. Federal Rule 702 committee note. The focus of the trial court's inquiry "must be solely on principles and methodology, not on the conclusions that they generate." *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 595. It is not the role of the trial court to evaluate the correctness of facts underlying an expert's testimony. *Micro Chem., Inc. v. Lextron, Inc.*, 317 F.3d 1387, 1392 (Fed. Cir. 2003). "*Daubert* neither requires nor empowers trial courts to determine which of several competing scientific theories has the best provenance." *Ruiz-Troche v. Pepsi Cola of P.R. Bottling Co.*, 161 F.3d 77, 85 (1st Cir. 1998).

2. The circuit court properly determined that the mapping of coordinates supplied by phone records was appropriate lay testimony.

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